# FILED

# JUN 24 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

# NO. 932930

COA NO. 46062-9-II

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

vs.

ASENCION SALGADO-MENDOZA, Respondent.

## STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

MICHAEL HAAS Prosecuting Attorney

PAMELA B. LOGINSKY WSBA No. 18096 Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 206 10th Ave. S.E. Olympia, WA 98501 (360) 753-2175

#

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED7		
1.	The State's Petition for Review Should Be Granted Because the Issues Presented in this Petition Are of Substantial Public Interest	
2.	The State's Petition for Review Should Be Granted Because the Majority's New Interpretation of CrRLJ 4.7 Conflicts With Numerous Cases of this Court and of the Court of Appeals	
3.	The State's Petition for Review Should Be Granted Because the Majority's Holding That the District Court Judge Abused Her Discretion in Denying the Motion to Suppress the Testimony of the Toxicologist Conflicts with Numerous Cases of this Court and of the Court of Appeals15	
F. CONCLUSION		
<i>Salgado-Mendoza</i> , COA No. 46062-9-II, Wn. App, P.3d (May 24, 2016) Appendix A		

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## TABLE OF CASES

<i>Brady v. Maryland</i> , 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1983)
City of Kent v. Sandhu, 159 Wn. App. 836, 247 P.3d 454 (2011) 15
City of Seattle v. Clewis, 159 Wn. App. 842, 247 P.3d 449 (2011) 15
City of Seattle v. Holifield, 170 Wn.2d 230, 240 P.3d 1162 (2010)8, 16
<i>Kyles v. Whitley</i> , <b>514</b> U.S. <b>419</b> , 115 S. Ct. 1555, 131 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1995)
Marley v. Department of Labor & Indus., 72 Wn. App. 326, 864 P.2d 960 (1993), affirmed, 125 Wn.2d 533, 886 P.2d 189 (1994)7
State v. Barry, 184 Wn. App. 790, 339 P.3d 200 (2014)
State v. Bradfield, 29 Wn. App. 679, 630 P.2d 494, review denied, 96 Wn.2d 1018 (1981)
State v. Cannon, 130 Wn.2d 313, 922 P.2d 1293 (1996)
State v. Carson, 128 Wn.2d 805, 912 P.2d 1016 (1996)
State v. Cauthron, 120 Wn.2d 879, 846 P.2d 502 (1993)
State v. Dunivin, 65 Wn. App. 728, 829 P.2d 799, review denied, 120 Wn.2d 1016 (1992)
State v. Flinn, 154 Wn.2d 193, 110 P.3d 748 (2005) 14
State v. Krause, 82 Wn. App. 688, 919 P.2d 123 (1996)
State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 822 P.2d 177 (1991), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 856 (1992)16
State v. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 229, 937 P.2d 587 (1997)

State v. Mullen, 171 Wn.2d 881, 259 P.3d 158 (2011)
State v. Perez-Cervantes, 141 Wn.2d 468, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000)15
<i>State v. Salgado-Mendoza</i> , COA No. 46062-9-II, Wn. App, P.3d (May 24, 2016) 1, 6, 7, 9, 10, 12, 17-19
State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 83 P.3d 970 (2004)
State v. Wake, 56 Wn. App. 472, 783 P.2d 1131 (1989)14
<i>State v. Woods</i> , 143 Wn.2d 561, 23 P.3d 1046, <i>cert. denied</i> , 534 U.S. 964 (2001)
State v. Yates, 111 Wn.2d 793, 765 P.2d 291 (1988) 10, 13
State v. Youde, 174 Wn. App. 873, 301 P.3d 479 (2013)
United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 96 S. Ct. 2392, 49 L. Ed. 2d 342 (1976)

## **STATUTES**

RCW 3.34.010	)	9

# **RULES AND REGULATIONS**

CrR 3.3
CrR 4.7(d)
CrR 4.7(h)(7)(i)
CrR 8.3(b)
CrRLJ 4.7
CrRLJ 4.7(a)
CrRLJ 4.7(a)(1)
CrRLJ 4.7(d) 1, 13
CrRLJ 4.7(g) 11
CrRLJ 4.7(g)(2)
CrRLJ 4.7(g)(7)
CrRLJ 6.13(c)
CrRLJ 8.3(b) 1, 3, 15, 16
RAP 13.4
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
<b>RPC 3.8</b>

# OTHER AUTHORITIES

Washington Courts, Washington State Court Directory (2016)9
Caseloads of the Courts of Washington9
Criminal Rules Task Force, Washington Proposed Rules of Criminal Procedure 77 (West Pub'g Co. ed. 1971)
Tom Banse, Traffic Fatalities in the Northwest Rising at Fastest Rate in County (May 26, 2016)
Washington State Department of Transportation, WashingtonState Strategic Highway Safety Plan 20138
Washington Traffic Safety Commission, Washington ImpairedDriving Strategic Plan (July 2013)8

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington, by and through its attorney, Pamela B. Loginsky, Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Jefferson, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in part B of this petition.

#### **B. RELIEF REQUESTED**

The State seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision in *State v. Salgado-Mendoza*, COA No. 46062-9-II, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_ (May 24, 2016). This opinion affirmed the superior court's decision reversing Ascension Salgado-Mendoza's conviction for driving under the influence. The Court of Appeals and the Jefferson County Superior Court held that the district court abused its discretion when it denied Salgado-Mendoza's motion to exclude a state toxicologist's testimony for governmental mismanagement under CrRLJ 8.3(b) based on the State's failure to comply with CrRLJ 4.7(d). A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is in the appendix at pages A-1 through A-28. Division Two's opinion was filed May 24, 2016.

## C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the State violates CrRLJ 4.7 by identifying more than one person who it may call to provide trial testimony upon a specific topic?

2. Whether a district court judge abuses her discretion by denying a defense motion to suppress testimony from a toxicologist, for whom discovery was provided five months prior to trial, when the defendant failed to identify how the State's identification of multiple toxicologists on its witness list prejudiced the defendant's ability to obtain a fair trial?

3. Whether a good cause continuance is available to the State when, as required by the majority's opinion, it identifies a single toxicologist on its witness list and that toxicologist is unable to appear for trial because the toxicologist has been subpoenaed to appear in a different court on the same day?

#### **D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The defendant, Ascencion Salgado-Mendoza, was charged in Jefferson County District Court with one count of driving while under the influence (DUI). On December 10, 2012, the State filed a witness list. CP 6. In addition to the arresting officer and a BAC Technician, The State gave notice that it intended to call at trial

Toxicologists, Washington State Patrol, (206) 262-6100, one of the following will appear for the jury trial and testify to the Widmark's formula, Retrograde Extrapolation, effects of alcohol, effects of drugs, BAC testing procedures and processes, BAC equipment maintenance quality assurance, etc. Christopher S. Johnston, Brittany Ball, Justin L. Knoy, Asa J.

Louis, Brianne O'Reilly, Lisa Noble, Naziha Nuwayhid or Dawn Sklerov or Sarah Swenson. CP 6. Full discovery was provided as to each of the nine toxicologists. See CP 40,  $\P$  5.<sup>1</sup>

As trial neared, Salgado-Mendoza requested that the State identify the specific toxicologist it would call at trial. CP 40,  $\P$  2-3. When the State was unable to comply with Salgado-Mendoza's request, he filed a CrRLJ 8.3(b) motion to exclude the toxicologist as a witness. CP 39. In his May 6, 2013, motion, Salgado-Mendoza identified the prejudice that he experienced from the State's inability to narrow down the identify of the toxicologist as follows:

Unfortunately the materials associated with these eight WSP crime lab technicians exceeds 170 pages (a little over 20 pages per technician) as I review the materials on the WSP website.<sup>[2]</sup> Because the State will not tell me which technician they will call I am forced to prepare to crossexamine eight technicians – resulting in a tremendous and needless waste of my time.

It is apparent the State views these technicians as fungibles. The defense does not. Each has his or her own background and story that might well provide fodder for cross-examinations independent of the others.

. . . .

<sup>1</sup>The Washington State Patrol website that Salgado-Mendoza's counsel refers to in his declaration may be found at http://www.wsp.wa.gov/forensics/toxicology.htm (last visited Jun. 18, 2016).

<sup>2</sup>The curriculum vitae of the toxicologists may be found at http://www.wsp.wa.gov/forensics/toxlabindex.php#vitae (last visited Jun. 18, 2016).

Because the State will not state who they will call from the WSP crime lab, your undersigned is forced to waste precious time preparing to cross-examine eight witnesses rather than one. Needless to say, the State's mismanagement of this case in terms of managing its witnesses is troubling and more force Mr. Salgado in to the Hobson's choice of adequately prepared counsel or a forced waiver of his speedy trial rights.

CP 40-42, ¶¶ 5, 6, and 10.

On May 8, 2013, the State reduced the number of toxicologists it might call from nine to three. RP (May 9, 2013) 8, 21, 28-29. The State did not receive the three names prior to May 8, 2013, despite repeated phone calls to the toxicology laboratory. The toxicology laboratory's inability to identify which toxicologists would be available to testify on May 9th stemmed, in part, because three of the toxicologists were out on maternity leave. *Id.* at 8, 30-31. Still unsatisfied, Salgado-Mendoza moved to exclude the State's toxicologist's testimony. *Id.* at 19.

The district court denied Salgado-Mendoza's motion on the grounds that Salgado-Mendoza had the names of the nine toxicologists since December<sup>3</sup> and that preparing cross-examination for each of the toxicologists was not extraordinarily time-consuming as each of the toxicologists'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The district court specifically found that Salgado-Mendoza's counsel never stated that he was unable to be prepared for trial. Counsel merely stated that he did not believe it was his obligation to conduct research into each of the named toxicologists. *See* RP (May 9, 2013) at 24-25.

testimony regarding the simulator solution would be substantially similar.<sup>4</sup> *Id.*; RP (May 9, 2013) at 22-23. The district court also noted that there were a limited number of toxicologists and that the State could not afford to fund additional personnel to enable the State to identify a specific toxicologist. RP (May 9, 2013) at 34-35. Finally, the district court noted that Salgado-Mendoza was not prejudiced by the State's inability to identify which toxicologist would actually be called to the stand until the morning of trial.

Id.

The district court advised Salgado-Mendoza's counsel, who had previously handled a thousand DUI cases, both as a prosecutor and a defense attorney, that he could renew his motion following the direct examination of the toxicologist if the toxicologist's testimony went beyond the preparation and testing of the simulator solution. *See* RP (May 9, 2013) at 22-23 and 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The discovery web site that Salgado-Mendoza had access to contained the procedure utilized by all toxicologists to prepare and test the external simulator solutions. *See* Washington State Patrol Toxicology Laboratory Division Calibration Technical Manual, Preparation of the External Standard Solution (available at http://www.wsp.wa.gov/forensics/docs/toxicology/breath\_alcohol\_cal\_manuals/cal\_techni cal\_manual.pdf (last visited Jun. 20, 2016). Documents for each simulator solution batch are available on line. *See* https://fortress.wa.gov/wsp/webdms/FileDisplay/SolutionBatch (last visited Jun. 20, 2016). Multiple toxicologists test the various batches of "simulator solution" that are used in the field. *See, e.g.*, External Standard Solution Test Report for Batch 12024 (available at https://fortress.wa.gov/wsp/webdms/Archives/PdfDocumentation/Batch Reviewed/12024.pdf (last visited Jun. 18, 2016).

The prosaic nature of the toxicologist's testimony regarding the simulator solution was recognized by this Court nearly 30 years ago when it adopted CrRLJ 6.13(c). See 108 Wn.2d 1238 (1987). This rule allows the State to substitute a certificate for the toxicologist's sworn testimony unless the defendant makes a written demand for the toxicologist's presence at least 7 days prior to trial. *Id.* 

The district court provided Salgado-Mendoza with an opportunity to question the toxicologist outside the presence of the jury. RP (May 9, 2013) 244- 249. After conducting this in-court discovery and hearing the toxicologist's direct examination, Salgado-Mendoza did not renew his motion to suppress the toxicologist's testimony. *See* RP (May 9, 2013) at 240-263. Judge Worswich describes Salgado-Mendoza's cross-examination of the toxicologist<sup>5</sup> as "through" and "text-book"-like. *Salgado-Mendoza*, slip op. at 21 (Worswick, J., dissenting).

Salgado-Mendoza was ultimately convicted as charged at a trial in which a state toxicologist testified. CP 51-52. Salgado-Mendoza filed a timely RALJ appeal. CP 50. In the RALJ appeal, Salgado-Mendoza complained again about the "arduous and lengthy process" required to prepare to cross-examine the toxicologist due to the frequency each toxicologist testifies. RP 84. Salgado-Mendoza, however, did not identify any deficiencies in his cross-examination of the toxicologist who ultimately testified and he did not assert that his counsel provided him with constitutionally inadequate representation due to the State's inability to identify the specific toxicologist who would be testifying prior to the morning of trial. *See* RP 80-94.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Salgado-Mendoza's cross-examination of the toxicologist, Mr. Johnston, may be found at RP (May 9, 2013) 240-261.

The RALJ court reversed Salgado-Mendoza's conviction, finding "that the trial court abused its discretion in not suppressing the testimony of the state toxicologist at trial based upon the violation of CrRLJ 4.7 and governmental misconduct in the form of mismanagement of the case by the State." CP 60.

The State filed a timely notice of discretionary review from the RALJ decision. CP 22. A divided panel of the Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's reversal of the conviction, ruling that the district court judge abused her discretion by failing to suppress the testimony of the toxicologist. *See State v. Salgado-Mendoza, supra*. The State files this timely petition for review.

### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4 discusses the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review. Here, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision "throws every DUI prosecution in [the State] into chaos." *Salgado-Mendoza*, slip op. at 28 (Worswick, J., dissenting).<sup>6</sup> Review is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Judge Worswick's opinion attempts to limit the reach of the majority's decision to trial courts located within Division Two. Trial courts throughout the state, however, must follow Division Two's majority opinion. *See generally Marley v. Department of Labor & Indus.*, 72 Wn. App. 326, 330, 864 P.2d 960 (1993) ("As a preliminary matter, we recognize that the trial court [King County Superior Court] was bound by the court's decision in [a Division Three case]. This court is not bound, however, and we decline to follow the majority holding in [Division Three]".), *affirmed*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 886 P.2d 189 (1994).

majority's opinion conflicts with Division Three's opinion in *State v. Barry*, 184 Wn. App. 790, 339 P.3d 200 (2014), and with Division One's opinions in *State v. Dunivin*, 65 Wn. App. 728, 829 P.2d 799, *review denied*, 120 Wn.2d 1016 (1992), and *State v. Bradfield*, 29 Wn. App. 679, 630 P.2d 494, *review denied*, 96 Wn.2d 1018 (1981). Finally, review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the majority's opinion conflicts with this Court's opinions in *State v. Mullen*, 171 Wn.2d 881, 259 P.3d 158 (2011), *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 83 P.3d 970 (2004), and *City of Seattle v. Holifield*, 170 Wn.2d 230, 240 P.3d 1162 (2010).

## 1. The State's Petition for Review Should Be Granted Because the Issues Presented in this Petition Are of Substantial Public Interest.

Impaired driving is one of the leading contributors to highway deaths and major injuries. *See* Washington State Department of Transportation, *Washington State Strategic Highway Safety Plan 2013*, at 5 and 27-37;<sup>7</sup> Washington Traffic Safety Commission, *Washington Impaired Driving Strategic Plan* (July 2013).<sup>8</sup> Despite years of efforts to reduce the number of impaired-driver related fatalities, the numbers have increased in recent years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This document may be found at http://wsdot.wa.gov/NR/rdonlyres/ 5FC5452D-8217-4F20-B2A9-080593625C99/0/TargetZeroPlan.pdf (last visited Jun. 20, 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This document may be found at http://wtsc.wa.gov/wp-content/uploads/dlm\_uploads/2015/03/2013-WA-Impaired-Drivin g-Strategic-Plan.pdf (last visited Jun. 20, 2016).

See Tom Banse, Traffic Fatalities in the Northwest Rising at Fastest Rate in County (May 26, 2016).<sup>9</sup>

The Caseloads of the Courts of Washington indicates that 5,148 DUI/Physical Control Misdemeanors were filed between January 2016 and April 2016.<sup>10</sup> A total of 26,363 DUI/Physical Control Misdemeanors were filed in courts of limited jurisdiction in 2015.<sup>11</sup> These 26,363 DUI matters were scattered among the 150 courts of limited jurisdiction. *See* Washington Courts, Washington State Court Directory (2016); RCW 3.34.010 (providing for 122 district court judges).

On any given day, multiple DUI trials are set for the same day and time in Washington's 150 courts of limited jurisdiction. These trials will frequently be continued. *Salgado-Mendoza*, slip op. at 24 (Worswick, J., dissenting). The majority opinion would eliminate one of the most reliable pieces of evidence as to impairment – blood or alcohol tests – if the legislature does not expend sufficient funds to ensure that a single preidentified toxicologist is available to testify at each trial that is set at a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Available at http://ijpr.org/post/traffic-fatalities-northwest-rising-fastest-rate-country#stream/0 (last visited Jun. 20, 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The year to date report is available at http://www.courts.wa.gov/caseload/?fa=caseload.showReport&level=d&freq=y&tab=&fil eID=rpt07 (last visited Jun. 20, 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The 2015 Annual Report is available at http://www.courts.wa.gov/caseload/?fa=caseload.showReport&level=d&freq=a&tab=&fil eID=rpt07 (last visited Jun. 20, 2016).

specific time and date. *Salgado-Mendez*, slip op. at 12-13. The loss of this evidence will significantly reduce the likelihood of conviction and will impact the deterrent effect of the DUI laws. The majority's opinion, if left undisturbed, will significantly impact the public's interest in safe highways.

## 2. The State's Petition for Review Should Be Granted Because the Majority's New Interpretation of CrRLJ 4.7 Conflicts With Numerous Cases of this Court and of the Court of Appeals.

The State has an obligation under CrRLJ 4.7(a) to disclose numerous items of information to the defendant prior to trial. The purpose of this discovery rule is "to provide adequate information for informed pleas, expedite trials, minimize surprise, afford opportunity for effective cross-examination, and meet the requirements of due process. . ." *State v. Yates*, 111 Wn.2d 793, 797, 765 P.2d 291 (1988) (quoting Criminal Rules Task Force, Washington Proposed Rules of Criminal Procedure 77 (West Pub'g Co. ed. 1971)). Consistent with these goals, the State's duty to disclose is not limited to those items and those witnesses that the prosecution absolutely intends to use at trial. Instead, the State's duty to disclose extends to any information that the State *may* use at trial. *See, e.g., Dunivin*, 65 Wn. App. at 732 (the prosecutor's subjective intent is irrelevant to the obligation to disclose extends even to evidence that the State is reasonably certain it may not use at trial).

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