## RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jul 21, 2016, 12:21 pm

SUPREME COURT NO. 93293-0

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

COA NO. 46062-9-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

ASCENCION SALGADO-MENDOZA, Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR JEFFERSON COUNTY

The Honorable Keith Harper, Judge

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Skylar T. Brett Attorney for Respondent

Law Office of Skylar Brett
P.O. Box 18084
Seattle, WA 98118
(206) 494-0098
skylarbrettlawoffice@gmail.com



## **

II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
III.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED.
opii pred	This Court should deny review because Court of Appeals' nion on the discovery matter is controlled by well-established cedent; it does not conflict with any prior appellate case. The es in this case also are not of substantial public interest
bec: the	This court should deny review of the issue of when a cologist's absence would provide good cause for a continuance ause that issue was not before the trial court, the RALJ court, or Court of Appeals in Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's case and the record evoid of any facts on the matter.
IV	CONCLUSION 1

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# **FEDERAL CASES** Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963).. 4, 7, 11 Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 **WASHINGTON CASES** City of Seattle v. Holifield, 170 Wn.2d 230, 240 P.3d 1162 (2010) ... 11, 12 State v. Brooks, 149 Wn. App. 373, 203 P.3d 397 (2009)................ 5, 9, 10 State v. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 229, 937 P.2d 587 (1997)................. 6, 9, 10 **OTHER AUTHORITIES**

### I. RESPONSE TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

**RESPONSE TO ISSUE 1:** Discovery rules require the state to provide the defense with the names of the witnesses it will call at trial; governmental mismanagement does not excuse failure to do so. Did the Court of Appeals correctly find that the state violated CrRLJ 4.7 by failing to provide Mr. Salgado-Mendoza with the name of its expert witness until the day of trail?

RESPONSE TO ISSUE 2: The accused is prejudiced by governmental mismanagement when it requires him/her to choose between the rights to adequately prepared counsel and to a speedy trial. Did the Court of Appeals properly order suppression of the state's expert – who was not named until the morning of trial – when it was the only possible remedy that would have permitted Mr. Salgado-Mendoza to go to trial with adequately prepared counsel?

RESPONSE TO ISSUE 3: The prosecution did not ask for a continuance of Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's trial in order to comply with the state's discovery obligations. Indeed, a continuance would not have solved the problem here because the state would still have failed to name its expert witness until the morning of trial. Should this Court deny review of whether a continuance would have been appropriate when that issue was not raised before the trial court, the RALJ court, or the Court of Appeals?

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state charged Ascension Salgado-Mendoza with driving under the influence and tried him in district court. CP 56-57.

Mr. Salgado's attorney made a formal discovery demand, which included a request that the state disclose the names of each witness it

would call at trial. CP 11-15. The prosecutor intended to rely upon the expert testimony of a toxicologist. CP 57.

Rather than provide Mr. Salgado with the name of the witness it would call, however, the state provided Mr. Salgado with the names of the eight toxicologists at the state laboratory. CP 6; RP (5/9/13) 20. The afternoon before trial, the state provided Mr. Salgado with a narrowed-down list of three toxicologists. CP 57; RP 21.

On the morning of trial – still not knowing which witness the prosecutor would call – Mr. Salgado moved to dismiss the charge against him. CP 39-44, 57; RP (5/9/13) 30. The district court denied the motion. CP 57; RP 35. Later that day, an expert from the toxicology lab provided expert testimony on behalf of the prosecution. CP 57; RP (5/9/13) 228-263.

Mr. Salgado was convicted of DUI. He appealed his case to the Superior Court under the Rules of Appeal from Courts of Limited Jurisdiction (RALJ). CP 56.

The RALJ court reversed Mr. Salgado's conviction. CP 60, 66.

The superior court found that the prosecutor had violated the discovery rules and engaged in governmental mismanagement by failing to disclose the name of its expert until the day of trial. CP 60.

The Court of Appeals granted the state's motion for discretionary review of the superior court's RALJ opinion regarding the discovery issue.<sup>1</sup> Ruling Granting Motion for Discretionary Review.

The Court of Appeals agreed with the RALJ decision. Opinion. The court held that the prosecutor violated the discovery rules by failing to take reasonable steps to obtain the name of the toxicology expert witness in a timely manner as required by CrRLJ 4.7(d). Opinion, p. 6. The court also found that this discovery violation amounted to governmental misconduct under CrRLJ 8.3(b). Opinion, p. 6.

The Court of Appeals ordered that the toxicologist's testimony should be suppressed on remand. Opinion, pp. 14-15

The state filed a Petition for Review in this court. State's Petition for Review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Superior Court also reversed on the independent ground that the trial court had abused its discretion by excluding testimony from Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's expert witness regarding the breathalyzer machine. CP 66. The Court of Appeals denied discretionary review of that decision. Ruling Granting Motion for Discretionary Review. The state did not raise that issue in this court. See State's Petition for Review. Accordingly, Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's conviction will remain reversed regardless of the outcome of this appellate case.

# III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

- A. This Court should deny review because Court of Appeals' opinion on the discovery matter is controlled by well-established precedent; it does not conflict with any prior appellate case. The issues in this case also are not of substantial public interest.
  - The discovery rules required the state to disclose the name of the toxicologist who would testify against Mr. Salgado-Mendoza

The purpose of the criminal discovery rules is to "provide adequate information for informed pleas, expedite trials, minimize surprise, afford opportunity for effective cross-examination, and meet the requirements of due process." *State v. Boyd*, 160 Wn.2d 424, 434, 158 P.3d 54 (2007). The discovery rules are "designed to enhance the search for truth." *Id.* at 433. Courts should apply the rules to "insure a fair trial to all concerned, neither according to one party an unfair advantage nor placing the other at a disadvantage." *Id.*<sup>2</sup>

A prosecutor must disclose the names and addresses of persons the state intends to call as witnesses at trial. CrRLJ 4.7(a)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In addition, "courts have long recognized that effective assistance of counsel, access to evidence, and in some circumstances, expert witnesses, are crucial elements of due process and the right to a fair trial." *Boyd*, 160 Wn.2d at 434 (*citing Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963); *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 684, 691, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)).

If the accused requests specific information, the prosecutor must attempt to provide the information even if it is not within his/her knowledge. CrRLJ 4.7(d).

If the prosecutor is unable to obtain the information requested by the defense, the court must issue any subpoenas or orders necessary to make the information available to the accused. CrRLJ 4.7(d). The prosecutor must provide discovery materials within twenty-one days of receipt of the demand. CrRLJ 4.7(a)(2).

The state may not, by failure to provide timely discovery, force an accused person to choose between his/her rights to a speedy trial and to the effective assistance of adequately-prepared counsel. *State v. Brooks*, 149 Wn. App. 373, 387, 203 P.3d 397 (2009).

Late discovery resulting from governmental misconduct is ground for dismissal. *Brooks*, 149 Wn. App. at 391. Misconduct does not have to be malicious; "simple mismanagement is sufficient." Id. (emphasis in original).

Here, despite Mr. Salgado's repeated requests, the state did not provide the name of its toxicology expert until the morning of trial. CP 39-44, 57; RP (5/9/13) 30. This forced Mr. Salgado to choose between his

rights to a speedy trial and to adequately-prepared counsel.<sup>3</sup> CP 39-44; RP (5/9/13) 30.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals found that the prosecutor at Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's trial violated CrRLJ 4.7(d) by failing to making reasonable attempts to acquire the name of the testifying toxicologist within the discovery timeline. Opinion, pp. 9-11.

If the prosecutor's attempts to obtain the identity of the state's expert witness failed, the state should have notified the trial court in time for it to issue any necessary orders in time to allow Mr. Salgado-Mendoza to prepare for trial. Opinion, p. 10.

Mr. Salgado specifically asked the prosecutor for the names of the witnesses the state would call at trial. CP 11-15. He also asked for the toxicologist's name, specifically, several times in the weeks leading up to trial. CP 39-40.

These requests triggered the prosecutor's obligation under subsection (d) to attempt to make the information available to Mr.

Salgado. If his efforts proved unsuccessful, the court should have made the orders necessary to compel the toxicology lab to disclose the name of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Furthermore, the inability of the prosecutor's office and the toxicology lab to coordinate their schedules in order to comply with the discovery rules constitutes governmental mismanagement. *State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 239-40, 937 P.2d 587 (1997). Governmental mismanagement that affects the rights of accused person's qualifies as governmental misconduct. *Id.* 

expert who would testify against Mr. Salgado. CrRLJ 4.7(d). The Court of Appeals correctly held that the prosecutor had failed to comply with the requirements of the discovery rules at CrRLJ 4.7(d).

Still, the state argues that this court should accept review because the name of the toxicologist who would testify at Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's trial was included in the list of eight possible experts on the state's witness list. State's Petition for Review, pp. 10-13.

But the rule requires the prosecutor to provide names and addresses of the people it "intends to call as witnesses." CrRLJ 4.7(a)(1)(v). The prosecutor never intended to call all eight toxicologists as witnesses in Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's trial. The state's proposed interpretation of this is contrary to its plain language and would produce absurd results.<sup>4</sup>

Finally, the state claims that the Court of Appeals decision breaks new ground by reading CrRLJ 4.7(d) to require the state (rather than the defense) to seek the court's assistance in obtaining discovery information

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The state attempts to liken the prosecutor's provision of "too much discovery" to providing discovery of evidence that the state does not intend to use at trial in the *Brady* context. State's Petition for Review, pp. 12-13 (*citing Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1983)). But the state makes no claim that the names of the eight toxicologists who were not called as witnesses comprised exculpatory evidence. Indeed, those names had nothing at all to do with Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's case. This situation is not analogous to a *Brady* issue. Rather, it is much more like a circumstance in which the state provides extensive discovery from another, wholly-unrelated case without clarifying which materials apply to which case.

from a third party when that party does not provide it voluntarily. State's Petition for Review, p. 13.

But the Court of Appeals decision makes clear that the rule places the responsibility on the court to issue any orders necessary to cause the discovery to be made available to the accused. Opinion, p. 11. In order to trigger that obligation, however, the prosecutor must first inform the court that s/he has attempted to obtain the information and has been unable to do so. Opinion, p. 11; CrRLJ 4.7(d). The court simply applies the plain language of CrRLJ 4.7(d).

The state is also incorrect in its assertion that the Court of Appeals decision in Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's case somehow places a new burden on the prosecution to obtain discovery. Indeed, this Court has already interpreted the discovery rule to require the state to make reasonable efforts to gain access to specifically-requested materials. *State v. Blackwell*, 120 Wn.2d 822, 832, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993) (prosecutor complied with criminal discovery rule by making reasonable efforts to obtain police personnel files even when the police department refused to provide them and by informing the court of the efforts that had been made).

Here, on the other hand, the prosecutor simply acquiesced to the toxicology lab's refusal to name the testifying expert and failed to inform

the court that the state would be unable to comply with its discovery obligations. CP 57.

The Court of Appeals' decision in Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's case was based on the plain language of CrRLJ 4.7 and on clearly-established precedent. This court should deny review. RAP 13.4(b).

2. The Court of Appeals properly decided that suppression of the toxicologist's testimony was the least restrictive appropriate remedy for the state's discovery violation.

The accused is prejudiced by governmental mismanagement and discovery violations if they affect his/her right to a speedy trial or "right to be represented by counsel who has had sufficient opportunity to adequately prepare a material part of his defense." *Brooks*, 149 Wn. App. at 391; *Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d at 239-40.

The Court of Appeals found that suppression of the toxicologists's testimony (as opposed to outright dismissal) was the proper and least-restrictive remedy for the discovery violation and governmental mismanagement in Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's case. Opinion, pp. 14-15.

This is because the prejudice to Mr. Salgado-Mendoza – the Hobson's choice between adequately-prepared counsel and his right to a

speedy trial – could be eliminated only by the suppression of the evidence.

Opinion, p. 14.<sup>5</sup>

Still, without citation to authority, the state claims that this court should grant review because the only legitimate prejudice that could flow from a finding of governmental mismanagement is "the interjection of new facts that will require the defendant to proceed to trial unprepared." State's Petition for Review, p. 17. The state's claim is belied by this Court's holding in *Michielli*. *Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d at 239-40; *see also Brooks*, 149 Wn. App. at 391.

The Court of Appeals' decision does not meet any of the criteria for review set forth at RAP 13.4(b).

3. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any prior appellate case.

The state attempts to devise a conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision in Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's case and prior precedent from the Courts of Appeals and the Supreme Court. *See* State's Petition for Review. But the cases upon which the state relies either do not purport to apply the discovery rules at all or are otherwise inapplicable to Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Court of Appeals also noted that the state likely had sufficient evidence to convict Mr. Salgado-Mendoza even without the Breathalyzer evidence. Opinion, p. 15.

The state fails to identify any true conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision in Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's case and any prior appellate case.

First, the state endeavors to identify a conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision in Mr. Salgado-Mendoza's case and the Supreme Court's holdings in *Mullen, Thomas*, and *Holifield*. State's Petition for Review, pp. 10-14 (citing State v. Mullen, 171 Wn.2d 881, 259 P.3d 158 (2011); State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 83 P.3d 970 (2004); City of Seattle v. Holifield, 170 Wn.2d 230, 240 P.3d 1162 (2010)).

But none of those cases have any bearing on the discovery rules at issue in this case. *See Mullen*, 171 Wn.2d at 896 (state does not commit *Brady*<sup>6</sup> violation when the defense has access to enough information to ascertain the supposed exculpatory evidence alone); *Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d at 851 (state does not violate *Brady* by failing to inform the defense that a certain witness will not testify at trial); *Holifield*, 170 Wn.2d at 239 (suppression of evidence is the proper remedy for falsification of records at the state toxicology lab).

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